IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC00-1710

FRANK C. WALKER, JR., M.D., WILLIAM P. SIMMONS, M.D., and NORTH FLORIDA PEDIATRIC ASSOCIATES, P.A.,

Petitioners,

vs.

VIRGINIA INSURANCE RECIPROCAL, as subrogee of SCOTTISH RITE CHILDREN'S MEDICAL CENTER, INC.

Respondent,

On Appeal from the District Court of Appeal First District State of Florida

AMENDED INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONERS FRANK C. WALKER, M.D. AND NORTH FLORIDA PEDIATRIC ASSOCIATES, P.A.

Craig A. Dennis
William T. Jackson
Dennis & Bowman, P.A.
Post Office Box 15589
2367 Centerville Road
Tallahassee, FL 32317-5589
(850) 422-3345
(850) 422-1325 fax
FL BAR ID#0361836
FL BAR ID#0928021

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

In this initial brief, the Petitioners, Frank C. Walker, M.D., and North Florida Pediatric Associates, P.A., appellees/defendants below, are referred to collectively as Petitioner or Dr. Walker.

Respondent, Virginia Insurance Reciprocal, appellant/plaintiff below is referred to as Respondent or V.I.R. William P. Simmons, M.D., codefendant below, is referred to as Dr. Simmons.

In addition, use of the phrase "underlying lawsuit," refers to the suit bought by Ann H. and Robert Ray Auman (hereinafter Aumans) on behalf of their daughter Emily Auman. That lawsuit is styled: Ann H. Auman, individually and as as [sic] guardian of the property of Emily Auman, a minor, and Robert Ray Auman v. Coliseum Park Hospital, Inc., d/b/a HCA Coliseum Medical Centers, Hospital Corporation of America, HCA-Hospital Corporation of America, Ray Farhi, M.D., Ingleside Pediatrics, P.C., Robert I. Schwartz, M.D., Scottish Rite Children's Medical Center, Inc., Civil Action No. 38143, State Court of Bibb County, Georgia.

References to the record are made by "R." followed by the page number.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

Statement of the Case

This case began as a contribution suit brought by V.I.R. against Frank C. Walker, M.D., William P. Simmons, M.D., and North Florida Pediatric Associates, P.A. (R. 1-31). V.I.R.'s suit, filed in the Circuit Court of the Second Judicial Circuit for Leon County, asserted that V.I.R. was entitled to damages because it had paid more than its pro rata share of the common liability in settling a lawsuit brought by Ann and Robert Auman in Bibb Bounty, Georgia in May 1993 (R. 1-31).

Following an answer, and during the discovery phase of the suit, Dr. Walker and Dr. Simmons jointly moved for summary judgment based the Fourth District court's decision in <u>Wendel v. Hauser</u>, 726 So.2d 378 (Fla. 4th DCA) rev. denied 743 So.2d 510 (Fla. 1999). (R. 32-36; 52-59). The circuit court granted Dr. Walker's motion on May 28, 1999, and subsequently entered final judgment in his favor on June 12, 1999¹ (R. 75-78; 96-97). V.I.R. timely appealed the circuit court's order to the Court of Appeal, First District (R. 98).

The First District court reversed the circuit court's order granting summary final judgment in favor of Dr. Walker and certified

¹ Because of a pleading technicality, Dr. Simmons' motion was not granted at the same time. Following amendment to the pleadings, Dr. Simmons' motion was granted and V.I.R. appealed. That appeal is stayed in the First District court, pending the outcome of this appeal.

conflict with the Fourth District court's decision in <u>Wendel</u>.

<u>Virginia Insurance Reciprocal v. Frank. C. Walker Jr. M.D., et al.</u>,

765 So.2d 229 (Fla. 1st DCA 2000)(J. Padovano).

On August 22, 2000, Petitioner filed a timely notice to invoke the discretionary jurisdiction of the Florida Supreme Court. The Court issued an order postponing the decision on jurisdiction and requiring Petitioner to file an initial brief on the merits.

Statement of the Facts

This case actually began back on June 3, 1991, when Emily Auman was born at HCA Coliseum Park Hospital, Inc., in Macon, Georgia. (R. 2). On June 4, 1991, Emily was transferred to Scottish Rite Children's Medical Center, Inc., in Atlanta, Georgia, because of medical complications. (R. 2, 14). She remained a patient at Scottish Rite until her discharge on or about June 14, 1991. (R. 21). Thereafter, Emily came under the care of Dr. Walker and Dr. Simmons in Tallahassee, Florida. (R. 2).

Approximately 11 months after she came under the care of Dr.

Walker, Emily was diagnosed with hypothyroidism by Larry Deeb, M.D.

(R. 2-3). On or about May 28, 1993, Emily's parents brought suit against Scottish Rite, HCA Coliseum Hospital, and those physicians who treated Emily in Georgia. (R. 6-19). In their complaint, the Aumans alleged that Emily was injured because her healthcare providers failed to detect or test her for hypothyroidism as required

by Georgia law (R. 6-19). As to Scottish Rite, the Aumans alleged that Scottish Rite failed to perform the metabolic screening test for hypothyroidism within one week after Emily Auman's birth as required by rule 290-5-24-.02(4) of the Georgia Department of Human Resources and Public Health, and failed to determine whether HCA-Coliseum Medical Center had performed the required metabolic screening tests. (R. 15).

On June 11, 1997, V.I.R., the insurer of Scottish Rite, entered into a settlement agreement and release with the Aumans, thereby settling the lawsuit for \$1.65 million. (R. 20-31). The settlement agreement and release, released any "entity that may be characterized as a joint tortfeasor with [Scottish Rite]." (R. 22).

On May 14, 1998, V.I.R. served an "intent to litigate" against Dr. Walker pursuant to section 766.203, Florida Statutes. (R. 4, 34). The parties thereafter participated in the pre-suit process. Dr. Walker did not respond to V.I.R.'s intent to litigate during the presuit screening period, thereby denying the claim under section 766.106(3), Florida Statutes. (R. 4).

On November 13, 1998, V.I.R. filed its "Complaint for Contribution" against Dr. Walker and Dr. Simmons. (R. 1-31). V.I.R. alleged that it was entitled to contribution from Dr. Walker and Dr. Simmons as joint tortfeasors because it had paid more than its prorata share of the common liability of those persons and entities

released in the underlying suit, citing section 768.31, Florida Statutes. (R. 4). V.I.R. also alleged that Dr. Walker was a joint tortfeasor because he negligently failed to determine whether Emily received appropriate metabolic screening, failed to ensure that the screening was completed, and failed to notify the Aumans of the need for such screening. (R. 3). Dr. Walker answered the complaint denying the allegations and asserting various affirmative defenses, including the defense of failing to file within the applicable statute of limitations. (R. 32-36).

During discovery, Dr. Walker and Dr. Simmons filed a joint motion for summary judgment, arguing that V.I.R. had failed to bring its contribution suit within the one-year limitation period imposed by section 768.31(4)(d)2, Florida Statutes. (R. 52-59). Dr. Walker asserted that serving a notice of intent to litigate under section 766.203, did not toll the one year limitation period for filing a contribution claim under section 768.31. (R. 56-57). For support, Dr. Walker cited the then recently decided Wendel case. (R. 56-57).

The circuit court granted Defendants' motion finding, in part:

There appear to be conflicts in the reasoning of the cases considering actions for contribution in medical malpractice litigation. <u>Wendel v. Hauser</u>, 726 So.2d 378 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999) is the only case on all fours. <u>Wendel holds</u>:

We conclude that the plain language of Section 766.106, Florida Statutes, does not encompass claims for contribution.

<u>Wendel</u> considered <u>Walt Disney World Co. v. Memorial</u> <u>Hospital</u>, 363 So.2d 548 (Fla. 4th DCA 1978) and held that the language in Section 766.105, [sic] Florida Statutes, differs from Section 768.44, Florida Statutes (1975)(the mediation statute) which was at issue in Walt Disney.

(R. 75-78). The circuit court thereafter entered a final order of judgment for Dr. Walker on June 12, 1999. (R. 96-97). V.I.R. appealed to the First District court. That court reversed, disagreeing with the Fourth District court's approach in Wendel. Virginia Insurance Reciprocal, 765 So.2d at 235. Accordingly, the First District court certified conflict with Wendel. This appeal follows.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The First District court erred in reversing the circuit court's order granting summary judgment in favor of Dr. Walker where V.I.R. failed to bring its action for contribution within the one year limitation period plainly set out in the Uniform Contribution Among Tortfeasors Act, section 768.31(4)(d)2. The undisputed evidence shows that V.I.R. executed a release and paid \$1.65 million to the plaintiffs (Aumans) in the underlying lawsuit on June 11, 1997. V.I.R. subsequently commenced its action for contribution against Dr. Walker on November 13, 1998, more than one year after it agreed to settle the action involving the Aumans. Thus, V.I.R.'s action for contribution against Dr. Walker was time-barred.

The First District Court erred in concluding that the statutory presuit screening requirements of Chapter 766 apply to an action for contribution based on the alleged medical negligence of a joint tortfeasor, and in rejecting the Fourth District court's holding in Wendel. The First District court's reasoning and its accordant holding are simply not supported by a plain reading of Chapter 766 (the medical malpractice statutes), the Uniform Contribution Among Tortfeasors Act (section 768.31, Florida Statutes), and Florida case law.

Contrary to the First District court's conclusion about the charater of V.I.R.'s claim, the claim is not one of medical

malpractice under Chapter 766, but one of contribution under section 768.31. The nature of V.I.R.'s claim is plainly evidenced by its own complaint, which is entitled "Complaint for Contribution." Despite the First District court's attempt to blur the distinction between the causes of action at issue, a contribution claim is a separate and distinct cause of action from a medical malpractice claim. A contribution claimant alleges damages by reason of monetary loss on account of the negligence of an alleged joint tortfeasor. In contrast, a medical malpractice claimant alleges damages "arising out of the rendering of, or the failure to render, medical care or services."

The First District court's rationale for holding that the statutory presuit screening requirements of Chapter 766 apply to an action for contribution based on a claim of medical malpractice is not well-founded in light of the plain language of Chapter 766 and section 768.31. First and foremost, V.I.R.'s claim is not one for medical malpractice, but one for contribution. Second, under section 766.203(1), the Florida Legislature specifically mandates that other rights of actions be included within the term "medical negligence" for purposes of the presuit screening process. The legislature chose not include those rights of action under section 768.31, the contribution statute. Obviously, if the legislature wished to include contribution actions as an action subject to the Chapter 766

presuit screening process, it would have done so under section 766.203(1). Third, section 766.106(1)(a) need not distinguish between a medical malpractice claim asserted directly by an injured party and a medical malpractice claim asserted by a joint tortfeasor seeking to recover a share of the loss because that distinction has already been established by Chapter 766 and section 768.31, respectively. Finally, the public policy purposes of Chapter 766's presuit screening process and section 768.31 are very different. In blurring the distinction between a medical malpractice claim and a contribution claim with an underlying medical malpractice suit, the First District court fails to acknowledge the policy considerations of the Uniform Contribution Among Tortfeasors Act.

Also, the First District court erred in rejecting the well-reasoned opinion of the Fourth District court in <u>Wendel</u>. The <u>Wendel</u> decision is the better approach because it follows the Florida Legislature's mandate as reflected in the plain language of both Chapter 766 and section 768.31.

The First District court's proposition that substantive law governing the limitation period of an underlying cause of action may take precedence over the limitation period of the contribution statute is not applicable to this case. Notwithstanding, if one applied the case law cited by the First District court, V.I.R.'s "medical malpractice claim" would be barred by the statute of

limitations of section 95.11.

Finally, the First District court erred in adopting the view expressed in <u>Walt Disney</u>, a case specifically rejected and distinguished by the Fourth District court in <u>Wendel</u>. <u>Walt Disney</u> was based on section 768.44, which was in effect in 1978 and more broadly defined the kinds of claims subject to the presuit mediation process. Accordingly, its holding is of little precedential value and limited to situations involving that earlier version of the statute.

ARGUMENT

I. THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN REVERSING THE CIRCUIT COURT'S ORDER GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT IN FAVOR OF DR. WALKER WHERE V.I.R. FAILED TO BRING ITS ACTION FOR CONTRIBUTION WITHIN THE LIMITATION PERIOD PLAINLY SET OUT IN THE UNIFORM CONTRIBUTION AMONG TORTFEASORS ACT, SECTION 768.31(4)(d)2, FLORIDA STATUTES.

Under the Uniform Contribution Among Tortfeasors Act, "when two or more persons become jointly or severally liable in tort for the same injury to person or property, . . . there is a right of contribution among them even though judgment has not been recovered against all or any of them." §768.31(2)(a), Fla. Stat. Where there is no judgment for the injury against the tortfeasor seeking contribution, the tortfeasor's right of contribution is barred unless the tortfeasor has:

2. Agreed, while action is pending against her or him, to discharge the common liability and has within 1 year after the agreement paid the liability and commenced her or his action for contribution.

§768.31(4)(d)2., Fla. Stat. Thus, under this section, the tortfeasor seeking contribution must pay the liability it agrees to pay and commence its action for contribution within one year of the agreement.

Here, the undisputed evidence shows that V.I.R., on behalf of Scottish Rite, executed a release and paid \$1.65 million to the Aumans in the underlying lawsuit on June 11, 1997. V.I.R. subsequently filed a complaint for contribution, i.e., commenced the

action, against Dr. Walker on November 13, 1998, more than one year after it agreed to settle the action involving the Aumans. Under the plain language of section 768.31(4)(d)2. V.I.R.'s action for contribution was time-barred and the circuit court properly granted summary judgment for Dr. Walker.

II. THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN CONCLUDING THAT THE STATUTORY PRESUIT SCREENING REQUIREMENTS OF CHAPTER 766 APPLY TO AN ACTION FOR CONTRIBUTION BASED ON THE ALLEGED MEDICAL NEGLIGENCE OF A JOINT TORTFEASOR, AND IN REJECTING THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT'S HOLDING IN WENDEL.

In reversing the circuit court, the First District court held that the statutory presuit screening requirements of Chapter 766 apply to an action for contribution based on an underlying claim of medical malpractice. Virginia Insurance Reciprocal, 765 So.2d at 232. Boiled down to its essence, the First District court concluded that although such an action is brought by a health care provider rather than an injured party, the claim is, nonetheless, an action arising out of the rendering or failure to render medical care. Id. at 231. The court went on to hold that "[b]ecause V.I.R.'s complaint was filed within the applicable time limit as tolled," the complaint was timely. Id. at 231. The First District court's reasoning and its accordant holding are simply not supported by a plain reading of Chapter 766 (the medical malpractice statutes), the Uniform Contribution Among Tortfeasors Act (section 768.31, Florida Statutes), and Florida case law.

A. The First District Court Erred in Concluding That the Statutory Presuit Screening Requirements of Chapter 766 Apply to an Action for Contribution Based on the Alleged Medical Negligence of a Joint Tortfeasor.

Petitioner does not dispute that Chapter 766, mandates compliance with the presuit screening procedures set out in that chapter. See §§766.106, 766.203 - 766.206, Fla. Stat. Compliance, however, only pertains to "claim[s] for medical malpractice" as defined under section 766.106(1)(a). That section defines a "claim for medical malpractice" as "a claim arising out of the rendering of, or the failure to render, medical care or services." §766.106(1)(a), Fla. Stat.

Contrary to the First District court's conclusion about the character of V.I.R.'s claim, the claim is not one of medical malpractice under Chapter 766, but one of contribution under section 768.31. The nature of V.I.R.'s claim is plainly evidenced by its own complaint, which is entitled "Complaint for Contribution," and contains the following allegation:

Scottish Rite (V.I.R.), Dr. Walker, Dr. Simmons and Pediatric Associates are joint tortfeasors, and Scottish Rite (V.I.R.) has paid more than its pro rata share of the common liability of those persons and entities released. Therefore, V.I.R. is entitled to contribution from the other joint tortfeasors. Fla. Stat §768.31(1989) and Ga. Stat. §51-12-32 (1987).

(R. 1, 4).

Despite the First District court's attempt to blur the distinction between the causes of action at issue, a contribution

claim is a separate and distinct cause of action from a medical malpractice claim. A contribution claimant alleges damages by reason of monetary loss on account of the negligence of an alleged joint tortfeasor. §768.31(2), Fla. Stat.; see Wendel, 726 So.2d at 380; see generally, Lincenberg v. Issen, 318 So.2d 386 (Fla.1975)(elucidating on the question of continued viability of the principle of no contribution among joint tortfeasors in Florida and on the enactment of the Uniform Contribution Among Tortfeasor Act); see also Rowland v. Skaggs Companies, Inc., 666 S.W.2d 770, 773 (Mo. 1984)(en banc)(holding that contribution accrues from the existence of a joint obligation on a liability shared by tortfeasors, and that "[t]he right of contribution serves to rectify the unjust enrichment that occurs when one tortfeasor 'discharge[s] a burden which both in law and conscience was equally the liability of another. "). contrast, a medical malpractice claimant alleges damages "arising out of the rendering of, or the failure to render, medical care or services." §766.106(1)(a), Fla. Stat.

The Uniform Contribution Among Tortfeasors Act, as described by the First District court in this case, provides that "[t]he right of contribution exists only in favor of a tortfeasor who has paid more than his or her pro rata share of the common liability." Virginia

Insurance Reciprocal, 765 So.2d at 231 (quoting section

768.31(2)(b)). Section 768.31 creates a remedy; a remedy that is only available if there is an independent basis to assert a claim

Virginia Insurance Reciprocal, 765 So.2d at 232. Contrary to the First District court's opinion, the obvious conclusion to be drawn is that a claim for contribution is not dependent on the nature of the underlying claim.² Rather, a contribution claim is dependent on the payment of one joint tortfeasor who shares a common liability with another. Because a contribution claim is a separate and distinct cause of action based on different legal principles of recovery, it is by its very nature, not a claim for medical malpractice as defined under section 766.106(1)(a). Accordingly, a contribution claim is

B. The First District Court's Rationale for Holding That the Statutory Presuit Screening Requirements of Chapter 766 Apply to an Action for Contribution Based on a Claim of Medical Malpractice Is Not Well-founded in Light of the Plain Language of Chapter 766 and Section 768.31.

not subject to the presuit screening process of Chapter 766.

In holding that the time for filing a suit for contribution was tolled by V.I.R.'s compliance with Chapter 766's presuit screening requirements, the First District court stated, *inter alia*:

We conclude that the statutory presuit screening requirements apply to an action for contribution that is based on a claim of medical malpractice. By the terms of section 766.203(1), all claims of medical malpractice are subject to the mandatory presuit screening procedure. Section 766.106(1)(a) defines a claim for medical

 $^{^2}$ The underlying claim can be any tort other than one that is reckless, willful, wanton, or intentional. <u>See</u> §768.31 (2)(c), Fla. Stat.

malpractice as "a claim arising out of the rendering of, or the failure to render, medical care or services." This definition makes no distinction between a medical malpractice claim that is asserted directly by the injured party and a medical malpractice claim that is asserted by a joint tortfeasor seeking to recover a share of the loss. Nor would there be any good reason to make such a distinction. The policy considerations underlying the presuit screening procedure are the same in either case.

Virginia Insurance Reciprocal, 765 So.2d at 232.

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