IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC00-1710 Lower Tribunal No: 1D99-2426

FRANK C. WALKER, JR., M.D. and NORTH FLORIDA PEDIATRIC ASSOCIATES, INC.,

Petitioners,

vs.

VIRGINIA INSURANCE RECIPROCAL, as subrogee of SCOTTISH RITE CHILDREN'S MEDICAL CENTER, INC.,

Respondent.

On Appeal from the District Court of Appeal First District State of Florida

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT VIRGINIA INSURANCE RECIPROCAL, as subrogee of SCOTTISH RITE CHILDREN'S MEDICAL CENTER, INC.

> MICHAEL T. CALLAHAN Florida Bar No. 0160940 Callahan Law Firm 2151 Delta Boulevard Suite 101 Tallahassee, FL 32303 (850) 877-2525

> Counsel for Respondent/

Appellant/Plaintiff

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Respondent is required to prove medical negligence by the Petitioners to prevail in its claim for contribution. A claim based upon medical negligence in Florida must be brought pursuant to the pre-suit litigation requirements of Chapter 766, Florida Statutes. Respondent's claim is a claim for medical negligence not only because of the plain language, numerous definitions contained within Chapter 766, Florida Statutes, but because the courts have reasoned that a contribution claim seeking damages for medical negligence is a claim for medical malpractice. A claim for medical malpractice must be brought pursuant to Chapter 766, Florida Statutes, or be subject to dismissal for failure to follow the pre-suit screening requirements of the Act. Claims which are brought pursuant to Chapter 766, Florida Statutes, benefit from a "time-out," during which the statute of limitations is tolled.

The one-year statute of limitations provided in Florida's Contribution Act, section 768.31(4)(d), Florida Statutes, was tolled during the period of time that Respondent properly engaged in the pre-suit screening process required in this case. Suite was thereafter timely filed by Respondent. The reasoning of the Fourth District Court of Appeal in Wendel v.

Hauser, 726 So. 2d 378 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999), that a contribution claim under Chapter 766, Florida Statutes, is a monetary loss not contemplated by the language of the statute, is both erroneous and a deviation from the other cases which have considered the issue. A better view expressed by the First District Court of Appeal in this case is that Chapter 766, Florida Statutes, is sufficiently broad to encompass claims for contribution alleging medical malpractice, which claim necessarily involved a monetary loss.

The public policy reasons behind the pre-suit screening requirements of Chapter 766 would not be fulfilled if contribution claims for medical malpractice were permitted to be brought directly in Circuit Court without compliance with the Medical Malpractice Act. Contribution is not an independent cause of action excluding it from the purview of medical negligence claims brought pursuant to contribution, but rather the remedy available when there is an independent basis under the law to assert a medical malpractice claim.

The First District court of Appeal correctly reasoned in this case that there is no distinction between a malpractice claim asserted directly or one asserted by way of contribution in terms of the requirement to comply with the Medial Malpractice Act, and that dismissal of Respondent's claim for

contribution asserting the medical malpractice of the Petitioners was erroneous. There are no policy considerations inherent in the pre-suit screening process provided by Chapter 766, Florida Statutes, which would not be fulfilled by requiring contribution claims asserting medical negligence to be included within the purview of the Medical Malpractice Act. The public policy considerations inherent in permitting contribution pursuant to section 768.31, Florida Statutes, are served by requiring contribution claims for medical negligence to be brought pursuant to Chapter 766, Florida Statutes, as potential Defendants benefit equally with settling Defendants from the pre-suit screening process, and Plaintiffs benefit by having their cases resolved, with one of the settling Defendants assuming the burden of recovering the excess of its pro rata share.

ISSUE ON APPEAL

The issue before this Court is whether the medical malpractice pre-suit screening requirements of sections 766.104 and 766.203, Florida Statutes, apply to a medical negligence action brought by way of a contribution claim under section 768.31, Florida Statutes, after payment discharging the common liability of all tort-feasors.

ARGUMENT AND CITATIONS OF AUTHORITY

I. THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL WAS CORRECT IN CONCLUDING THAT THE MEDICAL MALPRACTICE PRE-SUIT SCREENING REQUIREMENTS APPLY TO AN ACTION FOR CONTRIBUTION BASED ON THE ALLEGED MEDICAL NEGLIGENCE OF A JOINT TORTFEASOR.

A. The Respondent, V.I.R., fully complied with existing law in commencing its claim for medical negligence.

At the time the Respondent, V.I.R., brought its claim against the Defendant Doctors, it had no alternative to filing a notice of intent to initiate litigation pursuant to Chapter 766, Florida Statutes, initiating the medical malpractice presuit screening procedures of that Act and tolling the one-year statute of limitations for its claim. V.I.R.'s contribution action is based upon medical negligence. Both the plain language of the statute, and the case law interpreting section 768.44, Florida Statutes, (1975) (the predecessor to today's medical malpractice law, Chapter 766, Florida Statutes),

mandated compliance with the Medical Malpractice Act for claims based upon medical negligence and brought by way of contribution.

Before a suit based upon medical negligence may be filed, a claimant must consult with a medical expert and obtain his or her expert, written opinion, must serve a notice of intent to initiate litigation, and commence a required pre-suit investigation process, which allows a 90-day "time-out" period for the statute of limitations. See §§ 766.104(1), 766.106(2),(4), Fla. Stat. (1997). Within the ensuing 90-day period, a claimant alleging medical negligence and the potential Defendant must conduct a pre-suit investigation which requires exchange of discovery information and provides an opportunity to resolve the case. See § 766.106, Fla. Stat. (1997).

In Walt Disney World Co. v. Memorial Hosp., 363 So. 2d 598, 599 (Fla. 4th DCA 1978)⁵, Disney, as the original defendant and the third-party plaintiff, sought contribution from Memorial Hospital. At the time the claim was brought, medical malpractice was governed by mediation requirements, see section 768.44, Florida Statues (1975), which were the

⁵See Appendix 4

predecessor to today's pre-suit screening procedures and shared a common purpose. See Walt Disney World Co., 363 So. 2d at 599. The court held that, "we cannot accept appellant's argument that because the claim is based on a contribution statute, it does not fit within the medical malpractice mediation requirements. The claim is clearly one for medical malpractice." Id. The Fourth District Court of Appeal stated further:

> We stress that the mediation required here is not the mediation of the contribution claim but is instead the mediation required of the issue of actionable negligence. Therefore, under the statute, a mediation panel must first answer the question of whether the hospital was actually actionably negligent in the care or treatment of the patient.

Id.

The holding and the court's reasoning certainly appeared to apply to V.I.R.'s situation and led V.I.R. to the conclusion that there cannot be a suit for contribution based on medical negligence without first determining the liability of the Defendant Doctors for their failure to render medical care, for which pre-suit screening is required under Chapter 766, Florida Statutes, as well.

Further, the Florida Supreme Court had stated in Weinstock v. Groth, 629 So. 2d 835, 836 (Fla. 1993), that, "[i]t is clear that the provisions of the Medical Malpractice Reform Act must be met in order to maintain an action against a health care provider." The Defendant Doctors are health care providers, and it seemed clear that Chapter 766, Florida Statutes, must be followed before V.I.R. could proceed with a suit for contribution. The Court in *Weinstock* added that, "the proper test for determining whether a defendant is entitled to notice under Section 766.106(2) is whether the defendant is directly or vicariously liable under the medical negligence standard of care set forth in Section 766.102(1)." Id. at 838.

Considerable peril awaits any attorney who ignores the pre-suit requirements of Chapter 766 when medical negligence must be proven, whether in filing his or her claim on behalf of a client or in defending one. Had V.I.R. simply filed a suit for contribution in Circuit Court, without supplying a verified written medical expert opinion to support its claim for medical negligence, and without participating in the presuit screening process as required by sections 766.106 and 766.203 Florida Statutes, it certainly would have faced a motion for dismissal of its claim for contribution and for sanctions.

Counsel for V.I.R. operated under the constraints

mandated by section 766.104(1), Florida Statutes, which provides:

no action shall be filed for personal injury ... arising out of medical negligence ... unless the attorney filing the action has made a reasonable investigation as permitted by the circumstances to determine that there are grounds for a good faith belief that there has been negligence in the care and treatment of the claimant.

Section 766.104(1), Florida Statutes, requires counsel to acquire an expert medical opinion to be able to certify that medical negligence has occurred. Counsel is subject to an award of attorney's fees and taxable costs against him or her, and a referral to the Florida Bar for disciplinary review, if he or she fails to meet the obligation. V.I.R. simply followed the law under Chapter 766, Florida Statutes (1997), and supporting Florida case law by initiating pre-suit screening and by exchanging discovery and entering into discussions or negotiations with the Defendant Doctors during an extension of time they requested under pre-suit discovery rules. The Defendant Doctors freely acknowledged that they participated in the pre-suit process mandated by Chapter 766, and stated in their Answer Brief in the First District Court that they were "obligated to comply with the process, or risk dismissal of its defenses under [s]ection 766.106(6) and

[s]ection 766.205(2), Florida Statutes."

When V.I.R. complied with the pre-suit screening procedures of the Medical Malpractice Act, it had no way of knowing that the court in *Wendel v. Hauser*, 726 So. 2d 378 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999), would, after suit was filed, contradict its prior holding in *Walt Disney World Co. v. Memorial Hospital*, 363 So. 2d 598 (Fla. 4th DCA 1978), and hold that pre-suit requirements did not apply to contribution claims, even when based on medical negligence, under the revised Medical Malpractice Act.

At the time it commenced this action with a Notice of Intent, V.I.R. was aware that section 766.106(1)(a), Florida Statutes (1997), plainly and broadly states that a "claim for medical malpractice" is defined as "a claim arising out of the rendering of, or the failure to render, medical care or services." Section 95.11(4)(b), Florida Statutes (1997), which defines limitations of actions not involving real property, states that, "[a]n 'action for medical negligence' is defined as a claim in tort or in contract for damages because of the death, injury, or monetary loss to any person arising out of any medical, dental, or surgical diagnosis, treatment, or care by any provider of health care." It would have taken a bold claimant to conclude that a claim for

contribution based on medical negligence was not a "claim for medical malpractice" under Chapter 766, Florida Statutes.

Chapter 766, Florida Statutes (1997), is replete with other language indicating the applicability of medical malpractice pre-suit requirements to V.I.R.'s medical negligence claim for contribution.

> <u>In any action</u> for recovery of damages based on the death or personal injury of any person in which it is alleged that such death or injury resulted from the negligence of a health care provider..., the claimant shall have the burden of proving... that the alleged actions...represented a breach of the prevailing professional standard of care for that health care provider.

§ 766.102(1), Fla. Stat. (1997)(emphasis added).

Section 766.104(1), Florida Statutes (1997), states: "<u>No</u> <u>action</u> shall be filed for personal injury or wrongful death <u>arising out of medical negligence</u>, whether in tort or in contract, unless the attorney filing the action has made a reasonable investigation as permitted by the circumstances" (emphasis added). "Pre-suit investigation shall be mandatory and shall apply to <u>all medical negligence claims</u> and defenses." § 766.201(2), Fla. Stat. (1997) (emphasis added). Section 766.203(1), Florida Statutes (1997), further states that "pre-suit investigation of medical negligence claims and

defenses pursuant to this section and sections 766.204-766.206 [sic] shall apply to <u>all</u> medical negligence, . . . claims and defenses." (emphasis added).

V.I.R. quite reasonably assumed from the foregoing language in Chapter 766, Florida Statutes, that it was statutorily required to conduct a pre-suit investigation of the Defendant Doctors' alleged medical negligence.

B. The First District Court of Appeal correctly stated the law in reversing summary judgment in favor of the Defendant Doctors.

The Fourth District Court of Appeal had concluded in Walt Disney World v. Memorial Hospital that the scheme devised by the Legislature for screening medical malpractice claims, Section 768.44, Florida Statutes (1975), was clearly meant to include contribution claims based on medical malpractice, reasoning that the subject matter to be mediated was the issue of actionable medical negligence not the right to contribution. See id. at 599.

The Fourth District later deviated from this holding in Wendel v. Hauser, 726 So. 2d 378 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999) reasoning narrowly that a contribution claim was a claim for "monetary loss," earlier contemplated by the language of section 768.44, Florida Statutes (1975), but not specifically included within the definition of malpractice contained within the modern

section 766.106, Florida Statutes, which defines a claim for medical malpractice as one arising out of the rendering of or the failure to render medical care or services. The court in *Wendel v. Hauser* apparently did not consider whether a claim for medical malpractice is inherently a claim for monetary loss as well. In both *Walt Disney World v. Memorial Hospital* and in *Wendel v. Hauser*, as in the case before this Court, the parties bringing claims for medical negligence by way of contribution complied with the requirements of the Medical Malpractice Act, at the time believing that the statute of limitations would be tolled while the mandatory pre-suit requirements were met. The holding of the Fourth District Court in *Wendel v. Hauser* is a deviation from that court's other holdings and is inconsistent with the reasoning in cases from other District Courts and from this Court as well.

In rendering its opinion reversing summary judgment in favor of the Defendant Doctors and reinstating Respondent's claim for medical negligence, the First District Court of Appeal in V.I.R. v. Walker correctly concluded that the medical malpractice screening requirements apply to an action for contribution based on the medical negligence of a joint tortfeasor, because such an action is both a contribution action and an action arising out of the rendering of or

failure to render medical care. See RSC. 1,2. The First District noted that substantive laws governing the underlying cause of action may take precedence over laws that apply to contribution actions, characterizing contribution as a remedy available only if there is an independent basis to assert the claim. See RSC. 5,6. The independent basis, of course, is "medical malpractice," for which the pre-suit screening process is required under Chapter 766 and under which the statute of limitations is tolled.

The very terms of the Medical Malpractice Act, section 766.203 (1), Florida Statutes, require all claims for medical malpractice to be subject to the pre-suit screening procedure. Section 766.106(1)(a), Florida Statutes, plainly defines a claim for medical malpractice as "a claim arising out of the rendering of or the failure to render medical care or services." The First District Court correctly concluded that these definitions make no distinction between a medical malpractice claim asserted directly or asserted by way of contribution. See RSC. 7,8.

The First District Court of Appeal essentially concluded that the Fourth District should not have altered its course (in Wendel v. Hauser) from its earlier opinion in Walt Disney World Co. v. Memorial Hospital. The sole basis for the Fourth

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